# **RECEIVED**

08-22-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP000967-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GITAN MBUGUA,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Janet Protasiewicz Presiding, and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, the Honorable Michael J. Hanrahan Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Nicole M. Masnica Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1079819

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Was Mr. Mbugua's first trial attorney ineffective as a matter of law for misinforming him that a conviction for false imprisonment, a plea to which was required in the initial plea offer, carried with it the possibility of sex offender registration?

The postconviction court did not conduct the analysis regarding deficiency of counsel, instead concluding that even if counsel was deficient, there was no prejudice because the sentencing court did not impose additional incarceration time permitted by the repeater enhancer.

2. Was Mr. Mbugua's second trial attorney ineffective for failing to inform him that the newly negotiated offer carried with it greater prison exposure than the State's previous offer?

The postconviction court concluded that successor counsel could not be held responsible for Mr. Mbugua's decision to reject the first plea offer due to misinformation provided by predecessor counsel, and also determined that even if he was deficient, there was no prejudice because the sentencing court did not impose additional incarceration time permitted by the repeater enhancer.

3. Was Mr. Mbugua prejudiced when, based upon his counsel's advice, he pled guilty to a Class F felony and a Class H felony as a repeater rather than pleas to a Class F felony and a different Class H felony without the repeater enhancers as contemplated by the original pretrial offer, even though the court ultimately imposed the maximum sentence of the original plea deal?

The circuit court held that there was no prejudice because the sentencing court did not impose the four additional years available due to the repeater enhancer.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

While this case involves the application of well-settled precedent to a set of facts, it also involves a unique question of what "prejudice" means in the context of a claim of ineffective assistance counsel in the plea negotiation process. Therefore, Mr. Mbugua requests publication of the decision in this matter and welcomes oral argument if the court would find it helpful.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

### The Incident and Criminal Charges

On October 21, 2015, C.C.S., the longtime girlfriend of Mr. Mbugua, left his residence and was picked up by a friend near the home. (1). C.C.S. told her friend that Mr. Mbugua had physically assaulted her, and the friend drove her to the police station. (1). While at the police department, C.C.S. reported that she had gone to the home of Mr. Mbugua on the evening of October 19, 2015, to discuss the status of their relationship. (1). C.C.S. reported that during the conversation, Mr. Mbugua struck her repeatedly with his fist and then whipped her with a white cell phone cord. (1). C.C.S. told the police that after the assault, Mr. Mbugua asked her not to leave so that he would not get into trouble. (1). She explained that she stayed at the home for the following two days, eventually leaving on October 21, 2015. (1). The police encouraged C.C.S. to go to the hospital, and

her injuries were documented by medical report and photographs. (1).

Mr. Mbugua was arrested and charged in Milwaukee County Case Number 15CF4647. (1). The complaint contained two counts: (1) first degree recklessly endangering Safety as a repeater, domestic abuse assessment; and (2) false imprisonment as a repeater, domestic abuse assessment. (1:1-2).

## Pre-Trial Offer #1

On December 14, 2015, a written pre-trial offer was extended by Assistant District Attorney Sarra M. Kiaie. (18:14-15). The offer contained two options:

- 1. Plea "guilty" to both counts as charged, with the repeater enhancers, with the State agreeing to take no position on the sentence, leaving it up to the court; or
- 2. Plea "guilty" to both counts, striking the repeater enhancer with both parties free to argue at sentencing.

(18:14-15).

The offer also contained notice that if Mr. Mbugua did not accept the offers and proceeded to trial, the State would not only revoke the agreement, but would possibly add multiple charges, potentially including attempted first-degree intentional homicide, first-degree reckless injury or aggravated battery, noting that a dangerous weapon enhancer could also be added. (18:14-15).

In his postconviction motion, Mr. Mbugua alleged that his first trial attorney, Attorney Cheryl Ward, discussed the two alternative offers while he was incarcerated and also spoke to him about a potential proposal that she suggested that would involve a plea to a Class E felony (possibly aggravated battery with intent to cause great bodily harm). (18:2-3). As alleged in the postconviction pleadings, during the discussion of the plea agreements, Attorney Ward told Mr. Mbugua that a conviction for the charged false imprisonment offense carried the potential for sex offender registration. (18:2-3). Mr. Mbugua was adamantly opposed to any plea that would expose him to the possibility of sex offender registration. (18:3).

At a hearing on January 14, 2016, in response to the trial court's inquiry, the State confirmed that it had extended a plea offer to Mr. Mbugua, and outlined its offer letter for the court. (33:2-3). The court asked Mr. Mbugua if he had discussed the case with his attorney and whether he was going to accept either of the proposals outlined in the written plea offer. (33:6). Mr. Mbugua confirmed with the court that he had discussed the offer briefly with his attorney. (33:6-7). The court then briefly adjourned so that Mr. Mbugua and trial counsel could discuss the plea offer further. (33:7).

When the court resumed, counsel explained that Mr. Mbugua would not be accepting the offer. (33:8). The court did not inquire with the parties why Mr. Mbugua turned down the negotiated plea, and neither Mr. Mbugua or Attorney Ward offered any additional information. The case remained on for trial the following week, but was ultimately adjourned on the next court date at the State's request due to the unavailability of a witness.

On February 22, 2016, trial counsel moved to withdraw. Attorney Ward informed the court that there was "a breakdown" in the attorney-client relationship that created a potential conflict. (35:2-3). The court granted trial counsel's

request to withdraw and the matter was set over for appointment of successor counsel. (35:3).

In his postconviction motion, Mr. Mbugua alleged that his rejection of the pretrial offer obtained during Attorney Ward's representation was due primarily to her misrepresentations that a conviction for false imprisonment could result in sex offender registration. (18). Mr. Mbugua asserted that, but for the inaccurate information from Attorney Ward regarding sex offender registration, he would have accepted the second alternative in the original pretrial offer. (18).

## Pre-Trial Offer #2

Attorney Matt Ricci was appointed by the State Public Defender as successor counsel, and made his first appearance on Mr. Mbugua's case on March 7, 2016. At the hearing, Attorney Ricci informed the court he had not yet met with Mr. Mbugua to discuss the case. (35:2). The matter was set for trial. At some point before the trial was set to occur, the State extended a different pretrial offer to Mr. Mbugua. A note from Attorney Ricci's file which appears to be drafted by a representative of the District Attorney's Office handling the matter outlined the new pretrial offer. (18:16). The unsigned, typed note read:

As far as the plea offer is concerned, I am willing to make some adjustments. In exchange for a plea to 1<sup>st</sup> Degree RES § 941.30(1) and Aggravated Battery §940.19(4), I would strike the habitual repeater only on the 1<sup>st</sup> Degree RES charge (leaving the habitual repeater with the Aggravated Battery charge). Both parties would be free to argue with respect to sentencing.

I also want to confirm that you received all discovery materials from prior counsel. This would include my offer letter that outlines the additional charges I would intend to try should this matter proceed on that route...

(18:16).

Notably, under the original pretrial offer, Mr. Mbugua would have had the following maximum exposure:

First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety, Class F Felony: 7.5 years initial confinement, 5 years extended supervision

False Imprisonment, Class H Felony: 3 years initial confinement, 3 years extended supervision

The new pretrial offer to Attorney Ricci carried four years greater exposure than one of the two plea options offered by the State in its original December 14, 2015 offer letter. (18:14-16). Specifically, Mr. Mbugua faced the following amount of imprisonment under the new offer:

First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety, Class F Felony: 7.5 years initial confinement, 5 years extended supervision

Aggravated Battery, *Repeater*, Class H Felony: 7 years initial confinement, 3 years extended supervision

In his postconviction motion, Mr. Mbugua alleged that he did not know at the time he accepted the plea agreement that he was facing significantly greater exposure than that posed by the second option of the original pretrial offer. (18:4). Furthermore, Mr. Mbugua's inaccurate belief due to the misinformation he received from his first trial attorney regarding sex offender registration under the original plea offer was never corrected by successor counsel. (18:2-4). At the time he entered the plea, Mr. Mbugua still believed that a conviction for false imprisonment exposed him to potential

sex offender registration. Mr. Mbugua alleged in his pleading that, had he known at the time of the plea hearing that the false imprisonment charge would not subject him to sex offender registration and that the original plea deal including that charge subjected him to four fewer years of initial confinement, he would have chosen to enter a plea to option two of the original offer over the new plea offer. (18).

## Plea Hearing

On May 12, 2016, Mr. Mbugua appeared in court and entered guilty pleas to an amended information which reflected the second plea offer. (37). Specifically, Mr. Mbugua entered pleas to the following two charges:

Count 1: First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety, Class F Felony: 7.5 years initial confinement, 5 years extended supervision

Count 2: Aggravated Battery, Repeater, Class H Felony: 7 years initial confinement, 3 years extended supervision

(9; 37). Both counts included the domestic abuse assessment. (11). During the plea colloquy, the court properly told Mr. Mbugua the maximum possible penalties, which reflected that Count 2 was, in fact, a Class H felony with a repeater enhancer, and Mr. Mbugua acknowledged that he understood the maximum possible penalties. (37:3-5). The court ultimately accepted Mr. Mbugua's guilty pleas and the matter was set over for sentencing.

# Sentencing Hearing

On June 7, 2016, the Honorable Janet Protasiewicz sentenced Mr. Mbugua to the maximum imprisonment on Count 1, first-degree recklessly endangering safety – sevenand-a-half years initial confinement and five years extended

supervision, consecutive to a revocation sentence he was serving. (14). On Count 2, aggravated battery as a repeater, Mr. Mbugua received three years initial confinement and three years extended supervision, consecutive to Count 1 and to his revocation sentence. (14). Thus, on both counts, Mr. Mbugua received a total sentence of ten-and-a-half years initial confinement and eight years extended supervision. (14).

## Postconviction Proceedings

Mr. Mbugua filed a postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel in the plea negotiation process on February 7, 2017. (18). A briefing schedule was ordered and both parties submitted pleadings in accordance with the timeline set by the court. (18, 20, 23, 24).

On May 10, 2017, the postconviction court, the Honorable Michael Hanrahan, denied Mr. Mbugua's motion for postconviction relief by written order and without a hearing. (25). First, the postconviction court addressed the claim that Attorney Ward was ineffective in the plea negotiation process and that Mr. Mbugua was prejudiced as a result. The court opined that even if Attorney Ward was deficient, Mr. Mbugua did not established prejudice in his postconviction motion. The court wrote:

First, the plea offer the defendant accepted did not carry a sex offender reporting requirement – something he was adamantly opposed to when discussing the initial plea offer with Attorney Ward. Although the defendant now states that he would have entered a guilty plea to a false imprisonment charge, the defendant, through his attorney, questioned the factual basis for that charge in light of the victim's statements at the revocation hearing. The defendant has made no admission to facts that would have supported a conviction for false

imprisonment. But more importantly, even though a conviction for false imprisonment without the enhancer would have carried four years less maximum incarceration exposure than the defendant faced..., the court did not use any of the penalty enhancer time in sentencing the defendant for battery.

(25:6). The court concluded that, "while a lesser sentence was possible, the defendant cannot base his ineffective assistance of counsel claim upon speculation about the sentence he would have received." (25:7).

Regarding Mr. Mbugua's claim that Attorney Ricci was deficient in the plea negotiation process, the postconviction court held that there has been no showing that the original offer would have been available to Mr. Mbugua at the time he ultimately entered his plea. (25:7). Further, the court concluded that even if the offer was available and that Attorney Ricci had an ethical duty as counsel to inform Mr. Mbugua that the new offer exposed him to four additional years of incarceration, there again was no prejudice "because the sentence he received did not exceed the maximum sentence that could have been imposed under option two of the initial plea offer." (25:7).

The postconviction further held that there was no reason to believe the sentence would have been any different had Mr. Mbugua entered a plea to option two of the original offer. (25:8). The court wrote:

[Mr. Mbugua] theorizes that the sentencing court might have imposed less than the maximum sentence for the offenses under the initial plea offer, since it imposed less than the maximum sentence for the offenses under the second plea offer. This kind of speculation may be the fodder for academic discussion, but it does not present a valid legal basis for granting the defendant a "do over" so that he can put his theory to the test.

(25:8).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Mr. Mbugua received ineffective assistance of counsel during the plea bargaining process when he was given inaccurate information regarding sex offender registration and the maximum exposure he faced, and therefore, he should be allowed to withdraw his plea and take advantage of the original plea offered by the State.

Both Attorney Ward and Attorney Ricci failed in their ethical duties to properly inform Mr. Mbugua of the details of all plea offers extended to him by the State. Had Mr. Mbugua received accurate information about the plea options presented to him, he would have accepted option two of the original plea offer. Further, counsels' failures caused substantial prejudice, as the resulting conviction exposed Mr. Mbugua to significantly more imprisonment (four additional years of confinement). For these reasons, Mr. Mbugua should be allowed to withdraw his plea and enter a plea to option two of the original pretrial offer.

A. A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel in the plea bargaining process.

The right of a criminal defendant to the effective assistance of counsel extends to the plea bargaining process. *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156 (2012); citing *Missouri v. Frye*, 566 U.S. 133 (2012); *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356 (2010); *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 57 (1985).

Further, defendants are "entitled to the effective assistance of competent counsel" during the negotiation process. *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 771 (1970). In *State v. Frey*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court described the responsibilities of effective legal counsel during the plea negotiation stage:

Defense counsel have many responsibilities in plea bargaining, including researching the factual basis for the offenses charged, discussing the possible penalties the defendant faces if he does not accept a plea offer, seeking to reduce a defendant's exposure to prison, discussing a defendant's chances of success in a trial, and discussing the implications of a plea offer—including the impact that read-in offenses might have as well as the effect of dismissed charges.

*Frey*, 2012 WI 99, ¶ 60, 343 Wis. 2d 358, 380–81, 817 N.W.2d 436, 447.

When a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is intertwined with a request for plea withdrawal, a defendant must make a *prima facie* case of ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. Wesley*, 2009 WI App 118, ¶ 23, 321 Wis. 2d, 151, 772 N.W.2d 232. When determining whether counsel was ineffective for failing to properly advise a client of a plea bargain, the two-part test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington* is applied. *See Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. at 58; *Lafler*, 566 U.S. at 162-163; *Frye*, 566 U.S. at 140-141; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). The *Strickland* test requires that a defendant show: (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) counsel's errors or omissions prejudiced the defendant. *State v. Smith*, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 273, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997).

In order to satisfy the "prejudice" prong of the *Strickland* test, there must be a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the

proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Smith*, 207 Wis. 2d at 276 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694).

To establish "prejudice" in a plea withdrawal case, a defendant must establish that: (1) he would have accepted the favorable plea offer had he received effective assistance of counsel, (2) the plea would have been entered without the prosecution cancelling the offer or the trial court refusing to accept it, and (3) under the original offer, the terms of the resulting conviction or sentence or both would have been less severe than that which was ultimately imposed. *Lafler*, 566 U.S. at 164.

B. Attorney Cheryl Ward provided deficient representation to Mr. Mbugua because she inaccurately advised him that a conviction for false imprisonment exposed him to sex offender registration.

Attorney Ward provided deficient legal representation when she misadvised Mr. Mbugua of the collateral consequences of a conviction for false imprisonment as contemplated by the original plea deal offered by the State. As asserted by Mr. Mbugua in his pleadings, had he received accurate information about the plea options presented to him – specifically that sex offender registration 1 could not have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Generally, failure of trial counsel to inform a defendant of collateral consequences of a plea (i.e., sex offender registration) is insufficient to sustain a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. Bollig*, 2000 WI 6, 232 Wis. 2d 561, 605 N.W.2d 199. This case, however, poses a different legal question. Here, Mr. Mbugua alleges that Attorney Ward was ineffective for giving clearly incorrect legal advice (continued)

been imposed for the false imprisonment as charged in his case – he would have accepted the second alternative in the original plea offer.

about the collateral consequences posed by a conviction for false imprisonment. Wisconsin courts have held under similar circumstances that affirmative incorrect advice about a collateral consequence of a conviction can deem an otherwise legally sufficient plea not knowing and voluntary. See State v. Woods, 173 Wis.2d 129, 496 N.W.2d 144 (Ct. App. 1992); State v. Riekkoff, 112 Wis. 2d 119, 332 N.W.2d 744 (1983).

In *State v. Woods*, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals permitted Mr. Woods to withdraw his plea after he had established that he had ineffective legal representation during the plea and sentencing process. While sentence structure is typically a collateral consequence the court need not inform a defendant about during the plea process, because Mr. Woods was unaware that his attorney had negotiated an illegally consecutive sentence recommendation, the court of appeals held that Mr. Woods' guilty plea under those terms was not knowing or voluntary and therefore, plea withdrawal was the appropriate remedy. *Id.* at 139-140.

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