RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-17-2017

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP967-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GITAN MBUGUA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JANET PROTASIEWICZ AND THE HONORABLE MICHAEL J. HANRAHAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009170

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Legal standards governing motions for plea withdrawal based on alleged ineffective assistance of counsel.

A defendant is entitled to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing only if he establishes, by clear and convincing evidence, a "manifest injustice." *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 311. The manifest injustice test is satisfied by a showing that the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel. *See id*.

A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must prove both that his lawyer's representation was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). To prove deficient performance, a defendant must show specific acts or omissions of counsel that were "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Id.* at 690. To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must affirmatively prove that the alleged defect in counsel's performance actually had an adverse effect on the defense. *Id.* at 693.

If a court concludes that the defendant has not proven one prong of this test, it need not address the other. *Id.* at 697. "If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, which we expect will often be so, that course should be followed." *Id.* II. Mbugua was not prejudiced by Attorney Ward's alleged advice that he might be subject to sex offender registration if he pled guilty to false imprisonment.

Mbugua contends that he received ineffective assistance from Attorney Ward regarding the State's initial plea offers because she "inaccurately advised him that a conviction for false imprisonment exposed him to sex offender registration." (Mbugua's Br. 12.) As the circuit court did, the State assumes that Ward performed deficiently in that respect. But, as the circuit court correctly determined, Mbugua was not prejudiced by that alleged inaccurate advice.⁵

"To establish *Strickland* prejudice a defendant must 'show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 163 (2012) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694). "In the context of pleas a defendant must show the outcome of the plea process would have been different with competent advice." *Id.* When "the ineffective advice led not to an offer's acceptance but to its rejection," the showing of prejudice requires "a defendant must show that but for the ineffective advice of counsel there is a reasonable probability that the plea offer would have been presented to the court (i.e., that

⁵ The State agrees with Mbugua that, under the facts of this case, he would not have been subject to sex offender registration. (*See* Mbugua's brief 14.) And because the circuit court denied the postconviction motion without a hearing, the State assumes for the purposes of this brief that Attorney Ward inaccurately advised Mbugua that a conviction for false imprisonment exposed him to potential sex offender registration.

the defendant would have accepted the plea and the prosecution would not have withdrawn it in light of intervening circumstances), that the court would have accepted its terms, and that the conviction or sentence, or both, under the offer's terms would have been less severe than under the judgment and sentence that in fact were imposed." *Id.* at 163–64.

The allegations of Mbugua's postconviction motion fall short of demonstrating prejudice under that standard. There are three reasons for that.

First, to establish prejudice, Mbugua must show that but for counsel's erroneous advice, he would have accepted the plea. *Id.* at 164. Mbugua's postconviction motion alleged that he did not accept the original plea offer because he was "adamantly opposed to any plea that would expose him to the possibility of being on the sex offender registry." (R. 18:3.) But the motion did not adequately explain why he would have accepted that offer had he known that the false imprisonment charge did not expose him to that possibility.

To be entitled to a hearing on a motion to withdraw a plea, "the facts supporting plea withdrawal must be alleged in the petition and the defendant cannot rely on conclusory allegations, hoping to supplement them at a hearing." *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 313. "A defendant must do more than merely allege that he would have pled differently; such an allegation must be supported by objective factual assertions." *Id*.

The following two sentences are the entirety of the allegations in Mbugua's postconviction motion regarding why he would have accepted the original plea offer had he not been misinformed about the potential for sex offender registration. Mr. Mbugua will testify that if Attorney Ward had not incorrectly informed him of the reporting requirement, that he would have chosen the more favorable plea option, option two of the original plea offer. This is facially logical as he ultimately choose to enter a plea and did not take the case to trial once the charge of false imprisonment was amended to a new charge that was also a Class H felony.

(R. 18:9.)

The first sentence is insufficient because it is simply a conclusory allegation that Mbugua would have pled differently. *See Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 313. The second sentence does include an objective fact—that Mbugua ultimately pled to a different Class H felony. But that fact does not explain why he would have been willing to plead guilty to false imprisonment four months earlier had he known that it did not carry the possibility of sex offender registration. Mbugua asserts that it is "facially logical" that he would have pled guilty to the Class H felony of false imprisonment in January 2016 because he later pled guilty to the Class H felony of aggravated battery in May 2016. But that is an argument, not an objective factual allegation.

Second, to establish prejudice, a defendant also must show "that the conviction or sentence, or both, under the offer's terms would have been less severe than under the judgment and sentence that in fact were imposed." *Lafler*, 566 U.S. at 164. Mbugua has not shown that either his conviction or sentence would have been less severe had he accepted the original offer.

Mbugua "acknowledges it is unknown whether the trial court would have imposed a less severe sentence had he accepted the original plea offer." (Mbugua's Br. 20.) But, he argues, "his conviction and maximum exposure was indisputably more severe under the plea deal he accepted." (*Id.*) That is so, he contends, because "[w]hile both the false

imprisonment and aggravated battery charges were Class H felonies, under the plea offer, Mr. Mbugua entered a plea to the aggravated battery Class H felony with a repeater enhancer, which added four additional years of confinement exposure, while the original plea offer would have dismissed the repeater enhancer." (*Id.* at 20–21.) For that reason, he argues, the "terms of the conviction" were less severe under the original offer. (*Id.* at 23.)

That argument reflects a misunderstanding of the nature of a repeater enhancer under Wisconsin law. "Wisconsin courts do not view repeater status, under § 939.62, as part of the underlying crime for which the defendant was convicted." *State v. Bush*, 185 Wis. 2d 716, 725, 519 N.W.2d 645 (Ct. App. 1994). "[B]eing a repeater is not a crime—it is a status." *State v. Harris*, 119 Wis. 2d 612, 618, 350 N.W.2d 633 (1984).

That status "may enhance the punishment for the crime of which the person is convicted—the substantive offense." *Id.* "A charge of repeater, if proved, 'only renders the defendant eligible for an increase in penalty for the crime of which he is convicted." *Id.* (citation omitted). "Thus, . . . sec. 939.62 is applicable to a sentence if an increase in the penalty prescribed by law for the crime of which the defendant is convicted is determined to be warranted by the trial court." *Id.*

"A sentence imposed which is within the term authorized by law for the prescribed crime does not invoke the repeater statute." *Id.* at 619. "Sec. 939.62(1), Stats., is invoked when the maximum term of imprisonment prescribed by law, in the trial court's discretion, is not sufficient and needs be enhanced." *Id.* Accordingly, "[t]he repeater statute, sec. 939.62, Stats., is not applicable to the sentence of a defendant unless the trial court seeks to impose a sentence in excess of that prescribed by law for the crime for which the defendant is convicted." *Id.* "Only when greater than the maximum sentence prescribed by law is imposed upon the defendant can the repeater statute be applicable, and only then is the issue of whether the defendant is a 'repeater,' as defined by sec. 939.62(2), relevant." *Id.* at 620; *see also State v. Kourtidias*, 206 Wis. 2d 574, 590, 557 N.W.2d 858 (Ct. App. 1996) ("When a sentence is within the term prescribed by the statute for the substantive crime, the repeater statute is not invoked.").

In this case, both the aggravated battery count to which Mbugua pled guilty and the false imprisonment count to which he did not enter a plea are Class H felonies with a maximum sentence of six years' imprisonment and a \$10,000 fine. (R. 3:1-2; 11:1-2.) When the court sentenced Mbugua on the aggravated battery count, it imposed the maximum unenhanced sentence of six years' imprisonment. (R. 39:29.)

Because Mbugua's sentence was within the maximum six-year term prescribed for aggravated battery, the repeater statute was not part of his conviction. *See Harris*, 119 Wis. 2d at 620. Accordingly, Mbugua cannot show "that the conviction or sentence, or both, under the offer's terms would have been less severe than under the judgment and sentence that in fact were imposed." *Lafler*, 566 U.S. at 164.

Third, to establish prejudice, a defendant also must show "that the court would have accepted [the plea agreement's] terms." *Lafler*, 566 U.S. at 164. On that point, the postconviction motion alleged only that "[t]here is no reason to believe the court would not have accepted the offer." (R. 18:6.) An allegation that there is no reason to believe the court would not have accepted the plea does not satisfy Mbugua's burden of showing that the court would have accepted it. More importantly, the record provides a reason why the court may not have accepted Mbugua's plea to false imprisonment. A trial court accepting a guilty or no contest plea must satisfy itself that "the defendant in fact committed the crime charged." Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b); see State v. Tourville, 2016 WI 17, ¶ 40, 367 Wis. 2d 285, 876 N.W.2d 735. "A sufficient factual basis for the guilty plea requires a showing that 'the conduct which the defendant admits constitutes the offense charged." Tourville, 367 Wis. 2d 285, ¶ 40 (citation omitted).

As the circuit court noted in its order denying the postconviction motion, "[a]lthough the defendant now states that he would have entered a guilty plea to a false imprisonment charge, the defendant, through his attorney, questioned [at the plea hearing] the factual basis for that charge in light of the victim's statements at the revocation hearing." (R. 26:6, A-App. 106.) At the plea hearing, after Mbugua denied that C.S. had asked him to take her to the hospital, his lawyer told the court that at Mbugua's revocation hearing, C.S. "acknowledge[d] . . . that [Mbugua] had left many times while she was at the house, and that . . . if she would have physically been able, she could have left on several occasions"; that "[s]he was left with the telephone while she was in the house [and] Mr. Mbugua was not present"; and that "she didn't choose to take advantage of obvious opportunities to leave." (R. 38:17-18; 39:19.) Counsel said that he believed that was the reason that "the State amended Count 2 from false imprisonment." (R. 38:17.)

The circuit court also noted in its postconviction decision that Mbugua "has made no admission to facts that would have supported a conviction for false imprisonment." (R. 26:6.) Mbugua does not argue otherwise in his appellate brief. Because Mbugua has not admitted to conduct that would provide a factual basis for a conviction for false imprisonment, he has not shown that the circuit court would have accepted a plea to that charge.

In his circuit court reply brief, Mbugua argued that his unwillingness to admit to the factual basis of the false imprisonment charge was "not dispositive, as Mr. Mbugua could have entered either a 'no contest' or 'Alford guilty plea' to the charge without admitting to the underlying factual basis." (R. 25:4.) But the State's plea offer required that Mbugua "take full responsibility in this matter by pleading 'Guilty."" (R. 18:14.) A no-contest or *Alford* plea was not an option under the State's plea offer.⁶ Moreover, there no basis in the record to believe that the circuit court would have accepted an *Alford* plea.

To establish prejudice based on Attorney Ward's alleged advice that the false imprisonment charge carried a possible sex offender registration requirement, Mbugua must show that "but for the ineffective advice of counsel there is a reasonable probability . . . that [he] would have accepted the plea . . ., that the court would have accepted its terms, and that the conviction or sentence, or both, under the offer's terms would have been less severe than under the judgment and sentence that in fact were imposed." *Lafler*, 566 U.S. at 163–64. Because Mbugua has not made an adequate showing on any of those requirements, he has failed to carry his burden of demonstrating that he was

⁶ An *Alford* plea is a conditional guilty plea in which the defendant maintains his or her innocence of the charge while at the same time pleading guilty or no contest to it. *See North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25, 37 (1970). A defendant has no constitutional right to have a court accept an *Alford* plea. *See id.* at 39 n.12.

prejudiced by counsel's alleged deficient performance. He is not entitled, therefore, to an evidentiary hearing on his claim that Attorney Ward was ineffective.

III. Mbugua's second attorney was not ineffective with respect to the plea agreement that Mbugua ultimately accepted.

Mbugua argues that his second attorney, Matt Ricci, performed deficiently because "he did not explain that option two of the original plea offer provided for significantly less exposure than the new offer he negotiated for his client." (Mbugua's Br. 15.) He alleges that he was prejudiced because he "would have been permitted to enter a plea under option two of the original plea agreement" (id. at 17) and the circuit court "could well have determined sentence differently had it been presented with a different offense (false imprisonment) rather than the aggravated battery as a repeater to which Mr. Mbugua pled and which carried greater exposure" (id. at 24). This Court should reject that claim because Mbugua has not shown that the original plea offer was still available when he entered his guilty plea and because he was not prejudiced by accepting the new plea offer.7

⁷ In his motion for postconviction relief, Mbugua also alleged that Attorney Ricci was ineffective because Ricci erroneously informed him that aggravated battery was a Class I felony, which "led Mr. Mbugua to believe that he was receiving a concession from the State in the felony class level when in fact he was not" (R. 18:10– 11). He does not mention that claim in his brief to this Court. (See Mbugua's Br. 1–2, 8–25.) He has, therefore, abandoned the claim. See A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998) ("an issue raised in the trial court, but not raised on appeal, is deemed abandoned").

A. Mbugua has not alleged sufficient facts to warrant a hearing on his allegation that the original plea offer was still available.

Mbugua's allegation that he received ineffective assistance from Attorney Ricci is predicated on his assertion that the plea offer that he rejected in January 2016 was still on the table when he pled guilty pursuant to a different offer in May 2016. (*See* Mbugua's Br. 18–20.) The circuit court rejected that assertion because the record "shows unequivocally that the offer was revoked at that time." (R. 26:7, A-App. 107.) The circuit court was correct.

Mbugua's argument to the contrary rests in part on "his written assertion in the [postconviction] motion." (Mbugua's Br. 19.) Mbugua does not provide a pinpoint cite for that assertion—he cites to the entire motion—but the State assumes he is referring to his assertion in the motion that "there is no reason to believe that this offer had been rescinded by the State despite the representations made at the January 14, 2016 hearing." (R. 18:11.) But the prosecutor could not have been more clear at that hearing that the offer was revoked.

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